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For Chook, Lachlan and Finn


Author’s Note


On a gloriously bright morning last summer I stood on the deck of a Portsmouth car ferry with my kids and a score of other holidaymakers to enjoy our approach to the coast of Normandy. It was a little after six o’clock – the light still gentle enough to throw everything into clear focus. To the west of the port of Ouistreham the sun was rising on a seemingly endless stretch of empty beach. It was a startling and, for me, unexpected view of a strip of coast I had spent the last six weeks studying in books and archive film. I don’t know how many of those who stood at the rail beside me were sharing the same thoughts of sixty years ago, a memory perhaps of flickering black-and-white faces, anxious, sick, waiting for a ramp to fall, smoke rising above sand littered with the detritus of war. Later that morning we walked along the shingle bank at Omaha and I tried to explain to my boys why young soldiers from a country 3,000 miles away died at this spot. History can so easily become a catalogue of distant events, as shapeless and strange as the shattered German concrete above Omaha appeared to my children. So few of my generation and the next know what it is to experience war, although they are still fought in our name. ‘War? You see sights you never want to see again, sounds you never want to hear,’ one of the veterans of Omaha we interviewed recalled. John Burke treated the wounded on the beach on D-Day:


I’m walking somewhere today and I hear the air gushing through telephone wires and it sounds like a mortar – I still cringe up. It’s not going to the movies and feeling good about it, walking out and going home and getting dinner. You stay in your hole – all day, all night, rain, snow, cold, people shooting at you. War is fear. There’s no place to go. It was the same thing, day after day. You just say to yourself, when is it going to end?



The Second World War was fought for the most part by very young men, in their teens and early twenties, many of whom had never been more than a few miles from home before they joined the army. During the research for this book and the TV series it accompanies, I was struck by how deeply their memories of sixty years ago are etched. Memories of fear, pain and loss painted in intense primary colours. Memories too of an extraordinary comradeship. These vivid recollections are at the heart of this book and the BBC series, and I owe a great debt of gratitude to those who were prepared to share them with me. Many have done so, not from pride or pleasure at the recollection of the past, but as an act of remembrance.

A good deal will be written and broadcast this year to mark the sixtieth anniversary of the D-Day landings. This book and the BBC series it accompanies are an attempt to tell the story of the campaign in north-west Europe beyond the beaches. It is surprising how often people assume that once the Allies were ashore the final defeat of Germany was little more than a formality, but the decisive battles of the campaign were fought in the hedgerows and wheat fields of Normandy. As one senior Allied planner noted before D-Day, ‘the crux of the operation is . . . likely to be our ability to drive off the German reserves rather than the initial breaking of the coastal crust’. It is impossible to tell the full story of the campaign in north-west Europe in three one-hour television programmes. This book is able to tackle more, but sadly even here there are gaps, such as the part played by the French Resistance, and men and women on the Home Front. This is primarily the soldier’s story. I have tried to strike a balance between the strategic debates that shaped the campaign and the life of those in the field who fought it day after day. I am acutely conscious, of course, that the campaign in the west was fought against the backdrop of the titanic struggle in the east, and that it was the soldiers of the Red Army who claimed the final ‘prize’ – Berlin.

Of the many people who were involved in the production of the television series on which this book is based I would particularly like to thank my colleagues Rosie Schellenberg, Lucy Heathcoat-Amory, David List, Martina Hall, Adam Levy and Frank Stucke. They played an equal part in the research and the interviews that are at the heart of the series and this book, and I am greatly in their debt. I am also grateful to our series consultant, Jack Livesey of the Imperial War Museum, who read this book in draft form and has been a much-valued critic. In the United States, the historian Patrick O’Donnell was generous with his advice and contacts. The Creative Director of BBC History, Laurence Rees, asked me to make the series, and it has benefited immeasurably from his sure editorial touch. Executive Producer John Farren steered it through the proposal stage, and Penny Heard and Helen Cooper have, with cool efficiency, kept the production on course. I have the unfailing ‘eye’ of Joanne King to thank for unearthing the marvellous images in the book.

I am very grateful to Rupert Lancaster at Hodder, who commissioned the book and was supportive throughout. He refused to flinch when the deadlines imposed by the broadcasting schedule began to rush towards us. I am also grateful to Hugo Wilkinson for tidying up the notes on sources and Ian Paten, who copy-edited the manuscript and improved it in the process.

Above all I wish to thank my wife, Kate Mavor, and my children, Lachlan and Finn, for their extraordinary patience and support. Too much of the work on the book was crammed into their time, but they were always interested and enthusiastic.

Andrew Williams

February 2004
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CHAPTER ONE

‘A DARK WALL’



0010 hours, 6 June 1944


Suddenly there was silence. The high-pitched scream of wind that had held them for an hour stopped with a jerk. The glider was falling free. It was a little after midnight. Shoulder to shoulder in the flimsy body of the Horsa were twenty-eight men of the Oxfordshire and Buckinghamshire Light Infantry. The bantering and singing that had carried them across the Channel were over – they were now above the coast of France. In a matter of minutes Glider 1 would level out at 300 metres on its final run in to land. Everything depended now on the skill of the pilots.

Major John Howard reached into the pocket of his battledress for the red baby shoe he had brought with him for luck – it had belonged to his two-year-old son, Terry. Howard had suffered from terrible air sickness during the practice flights, but not on this one. Adrenalin was pumping now. This was the real thing; they had spent nearly six months training for this moment. Howard and his men were going into battle for the first time. Minutes behind Glider 1 were five more with the rest of D Company and a detachment of Royal Engineers, a force of 180 men in total. These few were the spearhead of the great Allied invasion force that in the coming hours would attempt to thrust its way into Nazi-occupied Europe.

Before take-off Howard had visited his men with encouraging words, what he called his ‘Ham and Jam farewell’. The company was to seize two strategically vital bridges close to the beaches where at dawn British troops would come ashore. The enemy’s armoured reserves were expected to rumble westwards down the coast road to challenge the landings – first they would have to cross the River Orne and then the Caen Canal. ‘Ham’ and ‘Jam’ would be the code words for the capture of the bridges. ‘Your task’, Howard’s orders helpfully pointed out, ‘[depends] on surprise, speed and dash for success’. A ‘coup de main’ operation, the brigadier had called it; if all went to plan reinforcements from 6th Airborne Division would reach the bridges in the early hours of the morning.

The man entrusted with this most important of tasks was by no means a typical British Army officer. Howard had served in the ranks of the peacetime army and then as a policeman. The war had brought a commission and now, at the age of thirty-one, the command of D Company. He had made the most of it and had forged his men into a formidable unit. Just before take-off one of the company’s gliders had been judged to be overweight and Howard had asked for a volunteer to stay behind – no one had come forward. The men had chosen instead to shed some of their equipment. ‘I had a lump in my throat as big as a damn football,’ Howard later recalled. ‘I was a bit emotional as we took off.’ Private Denis Edwards was strapped into Seat 13, just a few feet from his company commander: ‘Nothing I had experienced in training could compare with the sheer panic that engulfed me as I sat in the dark glider waiting for take-off and my first trip into battle. I gripped my rifle between my knees so hard that my knuckles must have shown white under the camouflage grease-paint. But at least the weapon stopped my knees knocking together.’ As the glider left the ground Edwards’s fear turned to exhilaration: ‘I felt as if I had had a little too much to drink. I thought to myself, You’ve had it chum. The die is cast, and there is nothing you can do about it.’

The glider’s pitch changed as the pilot began to force its nose up in preparation for landing. The moon was bright enough for Major Howard to judge they were close to their target:


Sitting on my left was Lieutenant Dan Brotheridge, my leading platoon commander, and he undid his safety belt. I held his equipment on one side and his platoon sergeant did the same on the other side and he leaned forward very precariously and opened the door. When Brotheridge slumped back into his seat again I looked forward at the fields of France and it had an amazing tranquillising effect on me. There you had horses and cattle grazing very, very quietly. They were taking no notice at all; it was so quiet it was like being on an exercise in England.



The glider turned sharply to the right and suddenly there below was the Caen Canal.


I looked down and immediately recognised where we were. I’d been studying aerial photographs, the shapes of fields and woods and churches with spires. We’d often practised the drill for landing in those wooden boxes [the gliders] – ‘coffins’, the men called them. You had to link arms with the man either side of you, put your fingers into a butcher’s grip, lift your legs and just pray to God your number wasn’t up. There was nothing else you could do. We were all in the hands of those glider pilots. The first thing I remember is this colossal bump.



The glider made contact with the ground, but not for long. ‘For about forty to fifty yards we bounced in our wooden seats, as the darkness was filled with a stream of sparks caused by the skids scraping the ground; a sound like a giant sheet being ripped apart, a crash, and my body seemed to be moving in several directions. I was perched at an angle, peering into a misty grey haze,’ Private Edwards recalled. ‘There was an ominous silence. No one moved. We must all be dead, I thought. To be replaced by the realisation that this was not so, as bodies unstrapped themselves, and the interior of the shattered glider erupted into furious activity.’

The pilots had put them down only yards from their objective. The shadowy outline of steel girders loomed above them – the bridge. Corporal Bill Gray was one of the first out of the torn and twisted glider: ‘Lieutenant Danny Brotheridge leaned over, whipped open the door, and called, “Out Gun Out,” and out I went with the Bren. As soon as we were all in position, Brotheridge said, “Come on, lads,” and up and off we went, charging like mad up this slope towards the bridge.’

Howard was one of the last to force his way out of the splintered glider. ‘I could see the tower of the bridge about fifty yards from where I was standing. The nose of the glider was right through the German wire fence. And above all, and this was the tremendous thing, there was no firing at all. We had really caught old Jerry with his pants down.’

Howard followed the platoon up the track. Just ahead of him there was a flash and a series of thuds – short-fuse grenades. The lead section was attacking the pillbox at the eastern end of the bridge. ‘It went up with a hell of a bang and that was the signal to fire,’ Howard recalled. ‘By this time our men were halfway across the bridge.’

The first German soldier to see the platoon galloping towards him turned and ran. Hard on his heels was Lieutenant Brotheridge. One of the other sentries managed to fire a warning flare before he was cut down by a British machine gun. There was a sharp firefight with the German machine-gun posts at the western end of the bridge. ‘It was a tremendous sight to see the tracer bullets firing in all directions,’ Major Howard remembered. ‘There seemed to be three different colours, red, yellow and white, with the enemy firing at us, and my men firing at them. And while this was happening I suddenly heard two more crashes behind me in the landing zone.’ Gliders 2 and 3 had landed just yards from Howard’s own. It was then that word reached Howard that Brotheridge had been shot and wounded in the neck at the western end of the bridge. His platoon had pressed forward, machine guns at the hip, and by half past midnight the German defenders had been overcome and the crossing of the canal secured. Lieutenant Brotheridge died half an hour later and was recorded as the first British soldier to lose his life fighting on D-Day. He would be mourned by a wife pregnant with their first child.

The other assault party had landed a few hundred yards along the road and taken the bridge over the River Orne without firing a shot. Only one of D Company’s six gliders had gone astray – Howard’s second-in-command and a platoon of men had been dumped nearly 15 kilometres away on the wrong river. But Operation Overlord, the assault on Hitler’s European fortress, had begun well. Howard gave his wireless operator the order to send out the agreed signal – ‘Ham and Jam, Ham and Jam’. D Company had taken its objectives; now it had to hold them.

Leutnant (Lieutenant) Raimund Steiner had deliberately broken orders. The staff at divisional headquarters had instructed all soldiers to sleep in their uniforms with their weapons close at hand. Steiner had changed into his pyjamas. A fine rain had been falling as he had cycled the short distance from the Merville Battery to his command post in the sand dunes. The forecast was bleak enough to convince him that weather and tide would rule out an invasion. It had been an exhausting day. The Allies had bombed the battery on 4 June and the garrison had been busy all day making good the damage. It was a tediously familiar exercise – the battery seemed to be the focus of special attention. A few weeks earlier the Allies had managed a direct hit on one of the reinforced concrete casements. It had barely left a mark, but the force of the explosion had thrown men around the bunker. Steiner had been carried out unconscious and bleeding from his ears and mouth. It had shaken him, but he had continued with his duties – it was a matter of pride. At twenty-three, the diminutive Austrian was already a seasoned campaigner – a veteran of the Russian front who had been severely wounded twice.

The Merville Battery had been built on the east bank of the Orne to defend the river’s estuary and the entrance to the adjoining Caen Canal. It was situated three kilometres from the shore to minimise the risk of enemy bombardment from the sea. Steiner directed his guns from a B-post in the dunes, which commanded a fine view of the estuary and the little port of Ouistreham on the opposite bank of the river. A telephone line had been sunk more than two metres down to ensure a secure link to the guns.

The battery presented a formidable defensive obstacle – Steiner considered it one of the best on the coast. To reach its guns an attacking force would have to pass through a perimeter fence, cross an anti-tank trench and a belt of barbed-wire entanglements, then a minefield and a thicket of wire five metres deep. Beyond all this machine-gun posts guarded the final approach to the concrete casements that housed the guns. The garrison numbered some 130 men from the 716th Artillery Regiment.

Steiner had settled down for what he devoutly hoped would be a quiet night. He had barely had time to change into his pyjamas before he was out of them again. The telephone had rung in his B-post at half past midnight – the battery was once again under attack from the air. Wave after wave of Allied bombers were pounding the fields around the casements and had all but destroyed the nearby village of Gonneville. Steiner’s men had sheltered beneath four metres of reinforced concrete and rubble as the storm lashed everything except its intended target – the battery. Not long after the raid the first reports had begun to reach divisional headquarters of enemy air drops to the east of the River Orne.

The telephone had rung in the B-post again at 0430 hours – just before dawn. ‘My Battery Officer, Buskotte, rang me; he was in shock,’ Steiner recalled. ‘A British glider had crashed close to the fourth bunker.’ British paratroopers had blown holes in the wire and with reckless courage were crossing the minefield with machine guns blazing. There was fierce close quarters fighting around the battery and the British assault force was pushing on towards the concrete casements. It was difficult making sense of what was happening at the other end of the telephone: ‘It was a pitch-black night with drizzle, nobody could tell friend from foe. I told Buskotte to immediately move the rest of the men and the wounded to Casement 1, my command bunker, which was very well fortified and had ventilation tunnels.’ Steiner had reported the attack to General Wilhelm Richter of the neighbouring 716th Infantry Division, and support had been promised. But it was soon clear that the British had gained a foothold in the casements. The twenty or so men inside Bunker 1 were struggling to hold on: ‘The airborne soldiers had begun working on the bunker. Some of the men inside were gasping for air, some cursing. Buskotte prayed one “Our Father” after the other. “We can’t last long, Lieutenant,” he told me, “we can barely breathe, the injured are moaning, we have no medicine, the air vents don’t work.” There were words of goodbye, talk of relatives . . . it was horrible.’

It was a little before half past six in the morning when the telephone rang at the villa in Herrlingen. The man charged with the defence of Nazi-occupied Europe was still in his dressing gown. Field Marshal Erwin Rommel was busy with last-minute preparations for what promised to be a special day. It was Tuesday, 6 June 1944 – his wife Lucie’s fiftieth birthday. Rommel had left his headquarters in France two days before with the official intention of seeking an audience with his Führer. Thankfully Hitler was not able to see him until Thursday – that meant the best part of three days away from the war at home in Germany with Lucie. For six relentless months he had thrown himself into the task of improving the four thousand kilometres of coastal defences that made up the ‘Atlantic Wall’. He had visited nearly every windswept beach between the Hook of Holland and the French port of Cherbourg. There was no doubting the urgency of the task. The Führer himself had stated, ‘if they attack in the West that attack will decide the war’. There was very little reliable intelligence on where the Allies would try to land, but they would certainly come, and soon.

There was much still to be done. On Thursday Rommel would drive the short distance to Hitler’s retreat in the Bavarian Alps and tell him so. In particular he would press for two more Panzer divisions and a rocket-launcher brigade to be placed under his command in the Normandy sector. Until then Lucie came first. The house was full of flowers; there were just the presents to arrange on the drawing-room table. Everything would be just so.

It was the housemaid who brought word that the field marshal was wanted on the telephone. The war had found Rommel on his special day. It was his chief of staff: a large number of British and American paratroopers and glider-borne infantry had been dropped in Normandy. No one at headquarters was sure what this meant, but perhaps, yes, it was the prelude to invasion.

There was not a shred of doubt in the mind of Lieutenant Raimund Steiner. From his B-post he could see the dark silhouettes of a vast armada approaching the shore: ‘I looked over the sea and, as it got lighter, I could make out what looked like a black wall across the entire width of the sea. A dark wall in which lights flashed from time to time. That was when we realised: now they’re coming. Their invasion fleet has arrived. It was so depressing, so hopeless.’

The battle for the Merville Battery was over. The gun casements had fallen and been briefly occupied by the British. The paratroopers had been sent to capture a battery capable of engaging the landing beaches, but for all the concrete and wire defences it housed only vintage 100mm field howitzers. The battery was once again in German hands, but there was little Steiner could do. Only the easternmost end of the landing beaches was in range: ‘There were ships of all sizes. I came from the mountains and I had never seen anything like this before – big ships, small ships, cruisers, battleships – and then from the black wall we began to see the muzzle flashes. I thought, We can’t do anything against that with our guns.’

Some 50 kilometres along the coast to the west, Gefreiter [Private] Franz Gockel looked out on the same wall of ships and prayed: ‘We saw them at dawn, just after first light, an enormous fleet in front of us, erected there as if by ghostly hands. There was hardly a gap in the wall. We thought, we can’t fight this, we can only sell our lives as expensively as possible. We had always been told if something happens here you can’t retreat, you have to defend yourself to the end.’

It had been a little after 0100 hours when the alarm had sounded in Resistance Nest WN 62. It had dragged Private Gockel back to unwelcome consciousness. He had taken to his bunk at midnight and was due back on duty in under an hour. The alarm had sounded again and again in the last few weeks, and Gockel had dismissed the alert as another exercise to see how quickly the small garrison could respond to the threat of invasion. He had reluctantly swung his legs off the bunk and reached for his boots.

WN 62 overlooked the beach close to the village of Colleville-sur-Mer on the Calvados coast. Work was still taking place on the position. A network of trenches zigzagged its way between machine-gun, flame-thrower and mortar posts and two hastily constructed artillery casements. The casements gaped open to the elements – armoured flaps were yet to be installed in the apertures; until they were, the two 75mm guns they housed would be exposed to whatever the sea could throw at them.

WN 62 was home to fifty men from the 726th Grenadier Regiment, of whom the eighteen-year-old Gockel was the youngest. The sergeant’s voice had echoed through the bunker; ‘he said it was the highest state of alarm, but we’d heard the same thing so often before at first we thought, Go to hell,’ Gockel recalled. ‘But a couple of minutes later another non-commissioned officer came running into the bunker and shouted, “Men, this is the real thing, they are on their way.”’

Gockel had run an adrenalin-fuelled 300 metres from the main bunker to his machine-gun post. To the relief of all, there had been only dark, empty sea. The platoon had been left to shiver and guess what the morning would bring. Allied bombers had droned back and forth across the Normandy coast all night. The darkness had been punctuated by bright orange flashes as more than a thousand aircraft attacked strongpoints from Caen in the east to the Cotentin peninsula in the west. With first light peace seemed to have returned to the coast. Then, through the dawn mist, Gockel and his comrades had made out the first dark outlines of the approaching invasion fleet – nearly eight thousand ships and landing craft.

The storm broke upon an 80-kilometre stretch of coast. At a little before 0530 hours the first shells came whistling in from the sea. Above the sea barrage some sixteen hundred planes from the United States Eighth and Ninth Air Forces were preparing to renew their assault. Clouds of smoke billowed across the beaches as shells and rockets from more than a hundred Allied warships tore great holes in the ground around Rommel’s concrete fortifications. The bombardment seemed to grow in a deadly crescendo as the guns of the invasion fleet were joined by field artillery pieces carried on specially adapted landing craft. The defenders shrank back into their trenches and bunkers – each man fighting his private battle against stomach-twisting fear and the urge to run from the inferno bursting around him.

‘We tried to make ourselves as small as possible,’ Gockel recalled.


At first the shells whistled overhead. Several large formations of planes flew over us but dropped their bombs inland. But after a while the ships’ guns began shelling our position. It was very accurate fire – they could see our position very well. I crouched underneath my heavy machine-gun table – it was made of thick wooden planks, so it gave me some protection against shrapnel – and I prayed out loud as we had all done as a family at home in Hamm during the bombing raids. I prayed to the Virgin Mary, the Mother of God, ‘Hilf, Maria, es ist Zeit’ – help me, Mary, my time has come – and I also asked my patron saint, St Francis, for help. My mother had always said in her letters, ‘The Lord will protect you.’



The small contingent of German soldiers who were now expected to throw the Allies back from the beaches would scarcely have credited the total confusion with which those charged with decisive leadership at this time had greeted their reports of invasion.

The first vital indication that Allied landings were imminent had come five days before in a BBC broadcast. The German Secret Service, the SD, had managed to identify the coded message the Allies would use to alert the French Resistance – two lines of verse from Paul Verlaine.


Les sanglots longs des violins de l’automne

Blessent mon coeur d’une langueur monotone

The long sobs of the violins of autumn

Wound my heart with a monotonous languor.



On 1 June a signaller with the 15th Army heard the first line. The signal was broadcast again the next day and then the next. Then on 5 June came the second line. The commander of the 15th Army, General Hans von Salmuth, was immediately notified, and he placed his formations on alert. The intelligence was passed to Rommel’s staff at Army Group B Headquarters and to the commander-in-chief of German forces in the west, Field Marshal Gerd von Rundstedt, in Paris. But Rundstedt refused to believe that the Allies would announce the invasion on the BBC – he did nothing. Rommel was with his wife in Herrlingen and was happy to leave the matter to others. On the night of 5 June one of the two armies he commanded was on alert; the other, General Friedrich Dollmann’s 7th Army, was not – nor were the vital Panzer reserves on which a successful counter-attack would depend. The Normandy coast was squarely in the 7th Army’s sector.

It is richly ironic that Rundstedt and his staff chose to ignore one of the few reliable pieces of intelligence available to them, for much of what they had been told was completely worthless. Above all, a steady flow of intelligence and reconnaissance reports had led all Germany’s senior soldiers to believe that the Allies would try to force the Pas de Calais, where the sea crossing was shortest. It was on the Channel coast north of the River Seine that the Atlantic Wall was thickest, and here too in the 15th Army’s sector that Rommel’s troops were concentrated. The 7th Army was made up of thirteen divisions, seven of which were deployed along the 300-kilometre coastline of Normandy, while the 15th Army could mobilise seventeen. Although Hitler shared the general conviction that the Allies were most likely to land in the Pas de Calais, he had also made a point of drawing the attention of his field marshals to the ‘Calvados Coast’ and the strategic significance of the port of Cherbourg. Much against his better instincts he had allowed Rundstedt and Rommel to persuade him not to order a general transfer of divisions from ‘the main front on the Channel Coast’ to Normandy.

Rommel’s judgement as to when and where the Allies would land was, he knew well enough, based on the flimsiest of intelligence. ‘I know nothing for certain about the enemy,’ he complained. Uncertainty bedevilled every aspect of the planning for the invasion. At the beginning of June the German army west of the Rhine numbered fifty-eight divisions, nearly one million men, but these units were strung out along a 3,200-kilometre front. The general view had long been that the enemy would try to force the French or Belgian coasts, and yet in the weeks before D-Day intelligence gleaned from Allied signals seemed to indicate plans for a landing at the other end of the Atlantic Wall. Orders for the transfer of five infantry divisions from Norway to France had been immediately rescinded. It was a knee-jerk response to intelligence that was all too soon shown to be totally unreliable. Hitler and his commanders had been badly served in particular by Fremde Heere West (FHW) the intelligence arm of Army High Command (OKH). The FHW was to miss the mark with almost every significant piece of information it offered the High Command.

The Allies had systematically set about constructing a parallel invasion force made up of paper armies, canvas tanks and false wireless signals. The Overlord planners had recognised from the first that it would be impossible to disguise the massive military build-up in Britain, but perhaps the Germans could be hoodwinked about when and where the blow would fall. An elaborate deception plan, Operation Fortitude, was devised to ‘help’ the enemy’s intelligence officers to the view that the Allies intended to launch a diversionary attack in Norway and then the main assault on the Pas de Calais. The imaginary British 4th Army was created in Scotland with its own staff and radio traffic. The First US Army Group (FUSAG), with a paper strength greater than the American assault force that would eventually carry out the landings, was stationed in and around Dover to threaten the Pas de Calais. German spies turned by the British fed Berlin a steady stream of ‘intelligence’ on the build-up of men and equipment in the south-east of England. Dummy landing craft floated in the ports of Dover and Ramsgate for the benefit of German air reconnaissance. Hundreds of canvas and inflatable tanks littered the fields of East Anglia. FUSAG was made all the more believable by the inclusion of two real armies in its battle order – the American Third and Canadian First Armies. The crucial role in this extraordinary fiction was given to the man the German High Command considered the best of the Allied commanders – Lieutenant General George S. Patton. He was the perfect choice, for Patton had a gift for making headlines wherever he went. German intelligence was able to follow his movements in the British papers and through FUSAG wireless traffic. The Fortitude planners left just enough for German intelligence to piece together and, gratifyingly for them, the enemy concluded that everything pointed to a main assault near Calais. This was the universal hope of all who served at ‘the Wall’ in Normandy. ‘There was constant talk of invasion in the papers, and among ourselves,’ Lieutenant Raimund Steiner remembered. ‘People feared it was coming – there was the threat hanging over us. But we were all hoping that it would happen farther north where the coastal positions were ready. We used to tell each other it wouldn’t happen here.’

The FHW’s assessment that more than one landing should be expected was made all the more plausible by the estimate of Allied strength it offered Hitler and his generals. On the eve of D-Day it was considered likely that seventy-nine British and American divisions could be assembled for the invasion; in fact there were only forty-seven. Rundstedt expected as many as twenty divisions to be landed in the ‘first wave’ – the Allies were hoping to manage six.

If the Allies were to be beaten a strong and timely counter-attack would have to be launched at once – that much was known by every soldier on the Atlantic Wall. But the High Command’s uncertainty as to Allied intentions was matched by crippling indecision about how best to meet this challenge when it came. The two field marshals charged with the defence of the invasion coast had been unable to agree on the positioning of the vital mobile reserve upon which hope of a successful counter-attack rested. Officially Rundstedt presided in the west and Rommel was responsible for one of the two army groups under his command. In practice Rommel reported directly to Hitler. From the first Rommel had held that the enemy would have to be defeated on or as near to the landing beaches as possible. The coastal defences were to be as formidable as time and matériel would allow.

Rommel had thrown himself into the task with all the restless energy characteristic of the man. Private Franz Gockel was impressed with how quickly improvements were made after the field marshal’s visit to his resistance nest in January 1944: ‘We felt honoured that the famous “desert fox” had come to visit us,’ Gockel recalled.


But we heard from our CO later that Rommel had been angry about the totally inadequate fortifications on our part of the coast. He told the officers present that our bay was similar to the Bay of Salerno in Italy and the Americans had landed in Salerno in September 1943. He said that something must be done quickly and within a few days the builders were there. And after a few weeks it really looked different.



Underwater obstacles were laid to trap landing craft, beach defences to hold tanks and advancing infantry, and in a death zone up to eight kilometres inland field upon field of stakes – ‘Rommel’s Asparagus’ – to deter glider-borne landings. Rommel ordered 50 million mines for the Atlantic Wall, although by June his men had managed to sow just a tenth of that number. ‘The wooden stakes were hidden by the sea at high tide – we had been told that if they come, they will certainly come at high tide,’ Gockel recalled.

The field marshal who had made his reputation as a master of Panzer warfare – the lightning tank thrust – had vigorously pressed the case for what amounted to a static defence. His driving energy had transformed preparations for the invasion, and in places the Atlantic Wall presented a formidable obstacle. But for the most part it represented only a thin defensive crust – one that would be all too easily breached by a determined and well-equipped enemy. Nor were the soldiers who manned the resistance nests and bunkers of the wall of the best quality. For most of the war the Western Front had been welcomed as a quiet, generally relaxed posting – suitable for the old and very young, or those recuperating from wounds received on the Eastern Front. One veteran of the war in Russia was disgusted with the lack of discipline he found on the coast. Lieutenant Raimund Steiner arrived in Normandy on Christmas Day 1943 and was posted at first to Colleville-sur-Mer:


When I got there, there was nobody in the battery. After a long wait, I found a guard and asked him: ‘Where is the CO, where is everyone else?’ The guard replied: ‘They are all on holiday with their girlfriends.’ They called a trip to the town ‘a holiday’. This was completely strange to me. Up to that point I had served in an Alpine unit and we had always had tough discipline. I was told the CO was with his girlfriend in Riva-Bella and he wouldn’t be back for a few days. I thought, this is impossible. I couldn’t imagine that this was the German army. I sat down in the mess and thought about what I should do. It didn’t take long for the door to open and in walked a pretty blonde in a fur coat. Fur coats had not been seen for a long time in the Third Reich and now, all of a sudden, as if from a different time, a pretty girl in furs. And she told me straight away: ‘You must be Lieutenant Steiner!’ I was flabbergasted – she had walked into the officers’ mess as if she lived there and she knew who I was. And then she said: ‘You are going to a bunker near La Brèche – that will be your next post.’



Discipline was still slack in some units five months later. Steiner was ordered to the Merville Battery at the end of May as a replacement for the previous commander, who had been killed in an air raid. ‘He had liked to live well and had commandeered a chateau,’ Steiner recalled. ‘It was only on the morning after the raid and with a lot of effort that we were able to dig his body and his girlfriend’s out of the rubble.’

The Reich had begun to scrape the bottom of the manpower barrel, and the average age of those serving in many of the coastal units was thirty-seven. Rommel had pushed tirelessly for more and better troops but his divisions were still under strength, and in some cases reluctant Russians, Poles and Georgians had been press-ganged into green-grey to help make up numbers. A detachment of Poles was sent to Private Franz Gockel’s resistance nest: ‘They spoke very broken German and some had no German at all. We called them “Beute Deutsches” [looted Germans].’

For all his passionate advocacy of strong fixed defences, Rommel expected the enemy to struggle ashore somewhere and in strength. It was above all vital that armoured reserves, Panzer and Panzer grenadier units, were thrown into a counter-attack before the Allies were established beyond the beaches. In Rommel’s judgement the mobile reserves on which a successful defence depended needed to be deployed near the coast to ensure they were immediately available to his army commanders. His experience in North Africa and again in Italy only the year before had taught him that Allied aircraft would make the movement of armoured formations a hazardous business. If the Panzer reserves were too far from the beaches they would play no part in the crucial first hours of the invasion. ‘Rommel says mobile operations with armoured formations are a thing of the past,’ the chief of operations at Armed Forces High Command (OKW), General Alfred Jodl, recorded in his notes in April.

Germany’s most senior field marshal, Gerd von Rundstedt, was of an altogether different view. The Grand Old Man of the German army was at sixty-eight a tough veteran of both field and conference chamber, but, as one senior British intelligence officer later observed, ‘by this time Rundstedt’s arteries were hardening’. He was tired, disillusioned and altogether pessimistic about Germany’s future. ‘To me things look black,’ he had openly admitted to Rommel. Hitler had sacked him twice and then just as suddenly reinstated him – he remained in post, a great weather-beaten rock, comfortingly familiar and seemingly immovable.

Most of the Panzer forces in France were controlled by Panzer Group West, and its commander, General Leo Geyr von Schweppenburg, reported directly to Rundstedt. It was the fixed view of both men that Rommel’s insistence on a shoreline defence flew in the face of all military experience. The Allies would certainly be able to fight their way ashore. ‘The Atlantic Wall was anything but a wall,’ Rundstedt would later remark, ‘it was just a bit of cheap bluff.’ Rundstedt, Geyr von Schweppenburg and everyone on the staff of OB West in Paris accepted the need for a strong counter-punch, but no one was sure where this would have to be delivered. If the Panzer reserves were spread thinly along the coast the counter-attack would fail to carry the necessary weight. The Allies could also rely on overwhelming naval fire power to help counter advancing armour. The only hope of success, both men argued, rested in concentrating the Panzer reserves away from the coast on ground suitable for armoured warfare – then, perhaps, the enemy could be decisively defeated.

Sharp words had been exchanged between Geyr von Schweppenburg and Rommel. ‘I am an experienced tank commander,’ Rommel tartly told Geyr von Schweppenburg. ‘You and I do not see eye to eye on anything. I refuse to work with you any more.’ The matter was finally decided by Hitler, who opted for a solution guaranteed to satisfy nobody. Neither Rundstedt nor Rommel would control the reserves – they were to be directed by Hitler himself. A reserve of four armoured divisions under his ultimate control would be held back from the coast – these would form part of Geyr von Schweppenburg’s Panzer Group West. The remaining three divisions were placed under Rommel’s operational control – just one, the 21st Panzer, was assigned to the Normandy front. It was an unholy compromise that served only to weaken further what was already a fragile defence. Rundstedt no longer had any reserves under his personal control. ‘It was dictated from above,’ he later complained, ‘practically the disposition of every man was fixed for me.’ Hitler had chosen to secure a direct role for himself in the forthcoming battle and in doing so had undermined the authority of his commander-in-chief in the west. Rundstedt had never been able to direct the air or naval forces stationed in France – now he had lost what little authority he had over the army. ‘The organisation and chain of command of the major commands in the West was somewhere between confusion and chaos,’ Rommel’s chief of staff, General Hans Speidel, later observed.

By the spring of 1944 Field Marshal Rommel was quite sure the war could not be won by Germany. In the east, the Red Army was pressing relentlessly forward in a series of cripplingly costly engagements that were draining the Reich of men and matériel, while at home the Allied air forces were gradually reducing the country’s cities to rubble. Total defeat might yet be avoided if the Allies were prevented from opening a second front in north-west Europe. British and American forces were already fighting in Italy, but Rommel believed they could be contained there for a while at least. Germany needed the time and the men to dig in on the Reich’s border in the east. Above all it needed a negotiated peace. There were other fears too – ones the field marshal was prepared to discuss that spring only with those closest to him. ‘I know my father hoped that, if the Germans could stall the invasion, the chance of a negotiated peace would increase,’ his son Manfred recalled. ‘He was particularly keen to get conditions for Germany because it had become more widely known in his circles that atrocities had been committed in the name of Germany. He was generally very afraid of what the Allies, the Americans, French and British, would do in the case of victory.’

Everything now rested on defeating the invasion. Rommel’s mood swung between cautious optimism and black pessimism. In January 1944 he had written to his wife, Lucie, ‘I believe we’ll be able to beat off the assault,’ and then again in May, ‘I’m convinced that the enemy will have a rough time of it when he attacks, and ultimately achieve no success.’ But to old comrades from the desert he painted an altogether less rosy picture – it had become a question simply of doing one’s ‘duty’.

Rolf Munninger had served as a Gefechtsschreiber or ‘battle writer’ on Rommel’s staff in North Africa, with special responsibility for drawing up and distributing the orders of the day. The field marshal liked to have familiar faces around him and the twenty-three-year-old Munninger – a fellow Swabian – had rejoined his staff at La Roche Guyon. ‘Rommel realised of course that he had to radiate optimism with the troops during his front line visits,’ Munninger recalled. ‘He was a split man – in front of the men he presented the attitude “we can do this”, but in his heart he felt the exact opposite.’ In Hitler’s immediate circle this general pessimism was known as Rommel’s ‘Afrikanische Krankheit’ – his African sickness – and those joining the field marshal were warned to be on their guard against it. He was no longer the brashly confident Panzer commander who three years before had trounced the Allies in North Africa.

The available intelligence had pointed to an invasion in the spring and throughout April and May there had been a noticeable increase in Allied bombing operations in France. But by June the threat seemed to have receded a little. Rundstedt expressed the view that the raids were evidence of an ‘advanced state of readiness’ on the part of the Allies, but that there was no ‘immediate prospect of the invasion’. On 4 June the German meteorological service had advised that bad weather in the Channel would rule out the possibility for several days to come. Rommel had felt sufficiently confident to return home for Lucie’s birthday. In his absence a general insouciance seemed to settle on the German 7th Army in Normandy.

The failure to respond to the first reports of Allied airborne operations on D-Day with clear, decisive leadership was to prove little short of disastrous. Finding those with power to command was no easy matter on the night of 5/6 June. Field Marshal Rommel – the commander of Army Group B – was in bed with his wife in southern Germany, some nine hundred kilometres away. The commander of the nearest armoured reserve – the 21st Panzer Division – was in bed with somebody else’s wife, or so it was assumed, for no one could find him. General Dollmann and the staff of the 7th Army were at a ‘Kriegspiel’ or war game in Rennes. General Hans Speidel, Rommel’s chief of staff, had used the field marshal’s absence to invite a group of anti-Hitler conspirators to join him for drinks at La Roche Guyon. It was only at 6 a.m. that Rundstedt’s staff requested the release of the critical armoured reserves; by then the first Allied landing craft had begun struggling towards the Normandy beaches. Only Hitler could give permission for the deployment of the reserves and nobody wanted to wake him. In mitigation, the German army could point to the total failure in those first critical hours of both the navy and air force – they had failed to detect the approach of the largest invasion fleet ever assembled.

From his command post, platoon leader Feldwebel Pieh could see the landing craft edging closer to the beach in front of WN 62. The commander of the 726th had rung from Port en Bessin to impress on him the need for his men to hold their fire until the enemy was almost on the beach. Franz Gockel stood by his old Polish-made machine gun and waited:


The naval guns opened up again and the targets this time were the defensive stakes in the beach – the ‘Rommel Spargel’. After a time they aimed towards our positions again. The whole sea looked like a wall of fire. By then the tide was at its lowest and we could see that more and more landing craft were approaching. We had always been told that they would only come at high tide and now here they were at low tide.



The Americans were knee deep in the sea when the order to fire was at last given.

In the ships and landing craft of the invasion fleet thousands of Allied soldiers were preparing for the moment – ‘H hour’ – when a ramp would drop and the order would be given to run at a hidden enemy. ‘What a gigantic effort each man now has to make to face up to something like this,’ wrote Captain Alastair Bannerman of the 2nd Battalion, the Royal Warwickshire Regiment, on the eve of D-Day. ‘Men who may have had only little of life, men with little education and little knowledge and no philosophical supports, men with ailing, estranged or poor or needy families, men who have never been loved, men who had never had high ambitions or wanted a new world order. Yet we’re all here, we’re all going, as ordered, willingly into battle.’

The thirty-year-old Bannerman had been obliged for more than two years to suspend normal family life and his profession – he was a successful actor – and train for this day. ‘I pray for courage because I know that I am not a fighter,’ he confided in a letter to his wife, Elizabeth. ‘Now is not the time to doubt; let us follow our ideals and do everything to finish our task and to purify the air again so that humanity can breathe freely and rebuild.’

Many of the ‘hostilities only’ men who were crammed shoulder to shoulder in the landing craft that day felt the same way. ‘I had little time to think much about it, but in all our minds was the thought, would this be the last time we would see England?’ Lieutenant Kingston Adams of A Company, the 2nd Warwicks, had confided to his diary the evening before. The twenty-two-year-old Adams had joined the army from Oxford University, where he had been studying law: ‘I still couldn’t believe we were going into action at last, would be shot at, mortared, and would have every weapon the Germans possessed thrown at us to drive us away from their shores. Yet there was not one of us who was not proud to think he would be amongst the first to land on one of the greatest expeditions ever known in history.’

The 2nd Battalion, the Royal Warwickshire Regiment, was to come ashore with the rest of the British 3rd Division on the beach at Ouistreham in what had been designated ‘Sword’ sector. This was the most easterly of five landing beaches. The Canadian 3rd Division was to land a little farther up the coast on ‘Juno’ and the British 50th at ‘Gold’. In the west the American 1st and 29th Divisions were to come ashore at ‘Omaha’ and the 4th on ‘Utah’ beach. The first wave would be preceded on the British and Canadian beaches by assault teams of combat engineers and specially adapted tanks that were to clear a path through Rommel’s obstacles for the attacking infantry.

Talk of an Allied invasion of occupied Europe had begun within weeks of the American entry into the war in December 1941 – serious planning for Overlord only the year before. At first the British were full of misgivings: ‘my dear friend, this is much the greatest thing we have ever attempted,’ Prime Minister Winston Churchill wrote to President Roosevelt. And so it would prove. The British had been unceremoniously thrown out of France in 1940 by the most formidable army in the world. An amphibious assault on Fortress Europe was fraught with problems.

To force their way back, the Allies would need to enjoy total domination of air and sea. Above all it was essential that the time and exact location of the landings should be hidden from the enemy – a seemingly impossible task given the scale of the Allied preparations in the weeks before D-Day. Once ashore they would need to be able to supply and reinforce the armies for a break-out from the bridgehead. Concrete harbours – Mulberries – were to be floated across the Channel and sunk off the beaches, and two oil pipelines were planned so fuel could be pumped directly from England. The Germans could be expected to throw their best divisions at the beachhead. As one senior Allied planner put it: ‘The crux of the operation is . . . likely to be our ability to drive off the German reserves rather than the initial breaking of the coastal crust.’

A new urgency had been given to the invasion plans with the appointment of a Supreme Allied Commander – General Dwight D. Eisenhower. The Americans had insisted on an American. The big, fifty-three-year-old Kansan had enjoyed a meteoric rise from colonel to general in three years, but had barely heard a shot fired in anger. He had looked across the battlefield of Wadi Akarit in North Africa the year before and with typical candour admitted to his companion, ‘Say, Broadie, that’s the first time I’ve seen a dead body!’ There were plenty of critical voices – not all of them British – who questioned the wisdom of such an appointment. But for all his lack of experience in the field, Eisenhower had already demonstrated a light touch in the conference chamber. His good-humoured patience and generosity of spirit would be tested to the full, not least by the man appointed to command the Allied armies on the ground – General Bernard Law Montgomery. ‘Nice chap Ike, no soldier,’ Montgomery had observed when he had first met Eisenhower in North Africa. ‘Monty’ took pride in being every inch the professional soldier. He was three years older than Eisenhower and had held almost every senior position in the British army – he had seen a good many bodies. Before his appointment to the command of the 8th Army in 1942 there had been very few victories to celebrate. The hero of ‘Alamein’ had turned the tide in North Africa and in doing so had won enormous popularity among his soldiers and the British public alike. He was supremely confident in his own judgement, his own fitness to command. His extraordinary self-belief helped inspire the trust of subordinates, but with his peers he often appeared arrogant and intolerant. Even those who admired Monty found it difficult to like him. But Montgomery was the natural choice as Allied land commander. He had stamped his mark on the plans for Overlord before his appointment had been officially announced. Churchill had first shown him plans for the invasion on New Year’s Eve. He had spent the night studying them and in the morning confidently pronounced them to be seriously flawed. Instead of a landing by three assault divisions, he argued, the Allies would have to put five ashore on a much broader front, and this was the plan agreed upon three weeks later.

The initial assault by five divisions would be on the coast between the River Orne and the Cotentin peninsula. Once ashore, the immediate objective was to secure a large lodgement, including the port of Cherbourg in the west and the city of Caen in the east. Into this the Allies would pour four armies – thirty-seven divisions – in preparation for a break-out across France. If everything went to plan, Monty expected the Allied armies to be on the River Seine within three months – D + 90 days. It was an ambitious target – success would depend on ‘the violence of our assault’ and on the great weight of supporting fire from the sea and air, he told Allied commanders in May. The Germans would do their level best to ‘Dunkirk’ the Allies in the first few days – to press them back into the sea as they had in 1940. Monty’s old adversary from the desert – Field Marshal Rommel – had ‘made a world of difference’ since his appointment, and his reserves included some of the finest Panzer divisions in the German army. Monty was able to number them all with certainty in the days before D-Day. The Allies had thoroughly penetrated the German Enigma codes and the Overlord planners had benefited from a steady stream of reliable intelligence gleaned from their signals traffic. This ‘Ultra’ intelligence also gave them an insight into the fierce strategic debate in the German army on the best plan to counter the invasion. Monty knew Rommel had been able to deploy only one Panzer division at the coast – he knew too that the Allies’ Fortitude deception plan had succeeded brilliantly in deflecting attention to the Pas de Calais. The initiative lay squarely with the Allies, and Monty was supremely confident of success.

The attack would be launched at low tide so the assault troops could negotiate the enemy’s beach defences. The date finally settled on was dawn on 5 June. In the last tense days before D-Day the whole of southern England was smothered by a thick blanket of security. Allied soldiers were confined to camp, sailors to their ships, a 16-kilometre exclusion zone was established along the south and east coast of England, and all transatlantic telephone and cable links were cut. For all the careful security measures, it was impossible to stifle the sense of tense anticipation felt by soldiers and civilians alike.

Major Peter Martin, a company commander with the 2nd Battalion, the Cheshire Regiment, recalled the last tense days in England:


We marched from our camp in Nightingale Wood, just outside Southampton, down to the docks on 3 June. We were due to embark that day and sail the next evening ready for D-Day on the 5th. We’d done two full dress rehearsals of the embarkation procedure and on each of them the townspeople of Southampton had turned out and had some fun at our expense – joking comments like ‘Don’t get your feet wet, lads’ and that sort of thing. But on this particular day, when we were doing it for real, there was absolute dead silence. The crowds were there but not a word was said. And we got down to the docks in Southampton and boarded our LCI [Landing Craft Infantry]. The next morning, 4 June, we were visited down on the docks by Winston Churchill accompanied by Field Marshal Smuts. And I can remember seeing them leaning over the dockside looking very sort of morosely down the Solent, as if they expected awful things to happen. It was their sombreness I remember. And then on 4 June we suddenly got the word that D-Day was postponed because of bad weather. These LCIs were by no means comfortable, they carried about 250 soldiers, all cramped below decks in hammocks. We got the soldiers off on to the dockside and played football and I think the NAAFI [Army canteen] came down and opened up and everyone was in very good form, very cheerful. I can remember there was a launch going round Southampton harbour with a couple of very attractive Wrens on board distributing mail and that caused great cheers from the troops.



The weather had intervened on the eve of departure. The conditions were critical. Success depended on air support and steady seas, and the forecast was altogether gloomy – the weather on 5 June would be overcast and stormy, with low cloud and Force 5 winds. Eisenhower had been left with no choice but to postpone D-Day. Ships already at sea had to be recalled and the soldiers of the Allied Expeditionary Force were obliged to spend an uncomfortable and uncertain day at anchor. The 2nd Battalion, the Warwicks, was held at Newhaven. ‘We all lie now side by side in the quiet harbour and nobody knows what is going on,’ Captain Bannerman wrote to his wife.


We had a visit from our battalion commander, who was in good form, and we were able to recognise our friends on boats moored in the vicinity. On the jeep of Sergeant Matthews in which I am going to land, the whole Section has painted the names of their girls with a Cupid’s heart in chalk. So in order not to be left out I have added your name as well to the gallery and it now stands between the Doris of Lance Corporal Baker and the Vera of Sgt Matthews: Elizabeth Aear [Bannerman]. I know two officers very well whose wives expect a baby today and I can understand their feelings.



‘More letters were written and weapons cleaned,’ Lieutenant Adams of A Company, the 2nd Warwicks, wrote in his diary.


The evening was spent in a wonderful singsong between members of the various boats in the harbour. The BBC had erected a mike and was broadcasting from one of the LCIs and various people started singing. This led to competition from the other boats and soon the whole harbour was ringing with songs. Laid down my bed on the upper deck tonight and just got settled down when a Scotch mist came down.



On the evening of 4 June Eisenhower and his most senior commanders had met at Southwick House near Portsmouth – the new advanced headquarters for Overlord – to consider the forecast. The senior meteorologist had found what appeared to be a window in the weather for 6 June with ‘more favourable’ cloud and wind conditions. Montgomery was emphatic – ‘Go.’ The Allied airmen were hesitant. It was the voice of Admiral Sir Bertram Ramsey, the commander of the great naval task force, that was to prove decisive – if D-Day were to go ahead on 6 June ‘a provisional warning’ would need to be given within the hour. The final decision was Eisenhower’s to make – the navy was instructed to put to sea. A final, irrevocable decision was made at 4.30 the next morning. The forecast was more certain – winds along the assault coast would not exceed Force 3 and the cloud would be high enough for air operations. ‘OK, let’s go,’ Eisenhower told his senior commanders. D-Day would be 6 June.

‘What a sight it was when we got out into the Channel! Hundreds of ships of all sizes, all setting out together,’ Lieutenant Adams wrote in his diary on 5 June. It is difficult to over-estimate the size of the task the British and American navies faced. Nearly eight thousand ships and craft had set out from the British coast to pre-arranged assembly points in the Channel. From there they were funnelled into ten lanes swept free of mines – a fast and a slow passage for each of the five assault forces. All this was to be achieved in the utmost secrecy and in variable weather conditions. These soon began to take their toll on the men. ‘We are thrown to and fro and the waves break with a tremendous roar and a cloud of foam, and the deck is swamped with water,’ Captain Alastair Bannerman wrote in the diary he was keeping for his wife. ‘I felt extremely excited about this gigantic adventure. As I also felt a little seasick I took a pill which worked miracles!’ Not everyone was as lucky. ‘The officers were in a cabin but my platoon was down in the bowels of the ship and the atmosphere was awful,’ Lieutenant Kingston Adams on A Company’s transport, LCI 315, later recalled.


The ship was rocking and rolling and a good number of them were very ill. Some people were being sick in our cabin too, and I had to go into the engine room to get some sleep. I went up on deck to take the air a few times and it was an amazing sight – a huge armada. Overhead there were hundreds of aircraft darting in and out to protect us – but there was no sign of the enemy at all.



Adams and the other officers of A Company were finally told their destination at a little after midnight: ‘The Company commander, Harry Illing, called an “O” group meeting [orders meeting for officers and NCOs] on the LCI and issued us with our maps. We had eighteen of them and it was an awful business getting them all into our map cases. It was then that we were told our destination was part of the Normandy coast north of Caen – the village of Lion-sur-Mer.’

‘Hitherto we had studied maps with spurious names, so that we should not know the actual places where we were going to land,’ Captain Illing later recalled. ‘Here at last we saw our destination with its proper name – Lion-sur-Mer. We could see on our photos the landmark we would aim for, a “gable-end house”. Would it still be standing?’

Bannerman had been obliged to brief his platoon through a megaphone: ‘I had to cling to the railing to hold my papers and to prevent the megaphone from being blown out of my hand by the wind,’ he wrote to his wife. ‘What a painful discipline of body and mind this all is but it is certainly worth the trouble to bring back peace and goodwill to this earth.’

Not everyone was quite as dewy eyed. ‘Some of the men were looking towards D-Day with a certain amount of foreboding,’ Major Peter Martin of the 2nd Battalion, the Cheshire Regiment, recalled. The battalion had been rescued from the beaches at Dunkirk four years earlier, and as part of the 50th Division had fought with distinction in North Africa and Italy. The 50th was going to lead the line again, and some of the old sweats wanted to know why. The division’s officers had been called together in the days before D-Day for a briefing. Martin remembered the divisional commander telling them all that it had been a ‘toss-up’ between the 50th and the 51st Highland Division:


He said, ‘I’m delighted to say that we won and that we will have the honour of leading the assault on the beaches,’ at which there was a great moan all round the cinema. I think we reckoned that by that time we’d done our stuff. What were all these divisions back in England doing? Why didn’t they have the ‘honour’ of leading the attack? I can remember talking it over with a fellow company commander and reckoning that our chances of getting across the beach alive were going to be pretty small. Every day during the preparation period we were given aerial photographs and maps marked up with the latest German defences – new minefields, new underwater obstacles. It really did look extremely dangerous.



It was strangely heartening to learn that after a successful assault on the beach A Company was expected to join a 32-kilometre armoured push inland. ‘That made me realise that the great man “Monty” obviously didn’t believe that the beaches were going to be as dangerous as we’d thought. I can remember briefing my soldiers on the plan and the sort of happy smiles that came over their faces when I told them about this strike inland at the end of D-Day.’

Martin was woken in the early hours of 6 June by the smashing of crockery in the ship’s galley. Cold soya was served for breakfast; ‘a peculiarly revolting sort of ersatz sausage that was just about edible when heated but the galley’s rings weren’t working and we had to have it cold’. It was too much for even the hardest of stomachs. ‘Dawn came – few had had much sleep – even fewer managed to eat breakfast – some looked very ill in spite of seasick pills, boiled sweets and cups of tea,’ Captain Illing recalled. ‘Went down to the platoon’s quarters and the smell made me sick at once and I raced upstairs just in time,’ Lieutenant Adams of A Company wrote in his diary later. ‘Tried to get each man to eat something but it was the devil’s own game – poor chaps.’

The first sight of the French coast was greeted in silence by the men in Trooper Austin Baker’s transport. The 4th/7th Royal Dragoon Guards were to give armoured support to the first assault wave on Gold – they would be among the first British tanks ashore on D-Day. Baker was the wireless operator in C Squadron’s armoured recovery vehicle (ARV). It was a far cry from the library in Bedford where the twenty-year-old Baker had worked until his call-up:


There were several cruisers firing broadside after broadside. We passed within a couple of hundred yards of one, the HMS Belfast – the noise of her guns was ear-splitting. There was a battleship firing in the distance – the Rodney, so the skipper announced over the loudhailer on the bridge . . . There were destroyers right in close to the beach, firing like mad. They must have been almost aground. Rocket ships – landing craft carrying batteries of rocket guns – added to the general din. Smoke hung over everything and we could see the flashes of exploding shells on land. About half a mile from the beach a navy motor boat drifted past with a dead sailor lying across the foredeck. I’d never seen anybody dead before.

We were still two or three hundred yards offshore when a big spout of water shot up near our starboard side, followed by another in almost the same place. ‘We are now being shelled,’ the skipper said dramatically. It was very novel and unpleasant.



The British sector covered a 40-kilometre stretch of the coast, but less than eight kilometres of this was to be attacked in the initial phase. The landings on Gold, Juno and Sword were to take place almost simultaneously – once the beaches had been secured, the three divisions were expected to push rapidly inland. The Allies hoped that by the end of D-Day the bridgehead would stretch from Port-en-Bessin in the west to the Orne in the east and would include the city of Caen.

The assault teams from the 50th Division began to land at Gold at a little after 7.30 in the morning. Major R. J. L. Jackson of the 6th Battalion, the Green Howards, landed at the eastern end of the beach near the village of La Rivière:


The beach was completely deserted as we approached and I remember being puzzled by the comparative silence. Of course the Allied bombardment was landing far ahead and we could see some of the big shells passing over us, but the absence of any fire directed at us was strange. Our biggest fear concerned the first few seconds when the landing-craft doors were opened and we presented a tight, congested target for any machine-gunners. Because of this we lost a sergeant, who jumped too soon into the sea when we hit a false bottom. The water was some eight feet deep, but he thought we had struck the beach. He was carrying so much equipment that he sank straight away and was drowned.

Ironically his fears were without foundation. When we landed the doors opened, we jumped out, but there were no bullets. The beach was apparently still deserted. The water was only about a foot deep and I quickly advanced up the beach, flanked by a radio operator and a regimental policeman carrying a sten gun. At every step we expected to be fired at, but were not. The lack of opposition became eerie. Then after about 200 yards, we must have reached a German fixed line. Suddenly they threw everything at us. The mortars took us first and I was hit badly in the leg. My radio operator and policeman were both killed outright by the same explosion.



The radio still worked and Jackson was able to help direct those advancing behind him for a while.

‘The doors of the craft opened, the ramp went down . . . this was it,’ twenty-two-year-old Private Francis Williams of the 6th Green Howards recalled.


Sergeant William Hill – nicknamed Rufty – my best mate, was first to go, followed by two privates whose names I can’t recall. That was the last I saw of them. The landing craft had not run aground and they were sucked under, the three of them drowning . . . He had got out of Dunkirk a few years earlier, had been through all the battles in the Western desert and Sicily, now he was dead without even getting ashore.



The landing craft carrying twenty-four-year-old Sergeant Reg Webb of the 141 Royal Armoured Corps (The Buffs) also came ashore at La Rivière: ‘Just before we got in a shell hit the bridge of the LCT [Landing Craft Transport] but we still came in exactly on the right spot, the ramp went down, the petty officer checked the depth of the water and we were told we were OK – it was less than six feet deep. He was a liar, it was over six feet, I’m sure.’ First off the landing craft was a small machine-gun carrier – it sank without trace. It was followed by a Sherman flail – a mine clearer – then Webb’s own flame-throwing tank or ‘Crocodile’. ‘As I went down the ramp I hit one of these mines on a pole – the blast didn’t do any real damage and we managed to follow the flail tank ashore, but then he was hit.’ ‘On our left a flail tank went forward and blew up,’ Francis Williams remembered. ‘One of its wheels rolled right along the beach and just missed one of our sergeants, who was lying on the sand with a wound in his leg and half his jaw blown away.’
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